
    

  

United States Court of AppealsUnited States Court of Appeals
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUITFOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT  

Argued Argued January January 12, 12, 2016 2016 Decided Decided April April 15, 15, 20162016

 No. 15-1001 No. 15-1001

AALBERTOLBERTO IIGNACIOGNACIO AARDILARDILA OOLIVARESLIVARES,,
PPETITIONER ETITIONER   

v.v.

TTRANSPORTATIONRANSPORTATION SSECURITYECURITY AADMINISTRATIODMINISTRATION N ANDAND PPETERETER N NEFFENGER EFFENGER ,, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS AADMINISTRATOR OFDMINISTRATOR OF

THETHE TTRANSPORTATIONRANSPORTATION SSECURITYECURITY AADMINISTRATIONDMINISTRATION,,
R R ESPONDENTSESPONDENTS  

On Petition for Review of the DecisionOn Petition for Review of the Decision
of the Transportation Security Administrationof the Transportation Security Administration

 Jason  Jason GoldsteinGoldstein argued the cause and filed the briefs for argued the cause and filed the briefs for
 petitioner. petitioner.

 Dana  Dana L. L. KaersvangKaersvang, Attorney, U.S. Department of, Attorney, U.S. Department of
Justice, argued the cause for respondents. With her on theJustice, argued the cause for respondents. With her on the
 brief  brief werewere  Benjamin  Benjamin C. C. Mizer Mizer , Principal Deputy Assistant, Principal Deputy Assistant
Attorney General,Attorney General, Vincent CohenVincent Cohen, U.S. Attorney, and, U.S. Attorney, and SharonSharon

SwingleSwingle, Attorney., Attorney.

Before: BBefore: BROWNROWN,, Circuit JudgeCircuit Judge, and E, and EDWARDSDWARDS  and  and
WWILLIAMSILLIAMS,, Senior Circuit JudgesSenior Circuit Judges..
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Opinion for the Court filed byOpinion for the Court filed by Senior Circuit JudgeSenior Circuit Judge  
EEDWARDSDWARDS..

EEDWARDSDWARDS,, Senior Circuit JudgeSenior Circuit Judge: Alberto Ardila Olivares,: Alberto Ardila Olivares,
the Petitioner before the court, is a foreign alien fromthe Petitioner before the court, is a foreign alien from
Venezuela. In 2014, he applied to attend a Federal AviationVenezuela. In 2014, he applied to attend a Federal Aviation
Administration (“FAA”)-certified flight school in France toAdministration (“FAA”)-certified flight school in France to
obtain a pilot certification to fly large, U.S.-registered aircraft.obtain a pilot certification to fly large, U.S.-registered aircraft.
After conducting a background check, the TransportationAfter conducting a background check, the Transportation
Security Administration (“TSA”) determined that PetitionerSecurity Administration (“TSA”) determined that Petitioner
was a risk to aviation and national security and denied hiswas a risk to aviation and national security and denied his
application for training. Petitioner now seeks review of TSA’sapplication for training. Petitioner now seeks review of TSA’s
action, invoking the court’s jurisdiction under 49 U.S.C. §action, invoking the court’s jurisdiction under 49 U.S.C. §

46110(a), and asserting causes of action under the46110(a), and asserting causes of action under the
Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §§ 555(e),Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §§ 555(e),
702, 704, 706(2).702, 704, 706(2).

If TSA, on behalf of the Secretary of Homeland Security,If TSA, on behalf of the Secretary of Homeland Security,
determines that an alien presents a “risk to determines that an alien presents a “risk to aviation or nationalaviation or national
security,” then flight instructors, pilot schools, and aviationsecurity,” then flight instructors, pilot schools, and aviation
training centers are prohibited from giving training to thattraining centers are prohibited from giving training to that
alien on specified large, U.S.-registered aircraft. 49 U.S.C.alien on specified large, U.S.-registered aircraft. 49 U.S.C.
44939(a);44939(a); see alsosee also 49 C.F.R. § 1552.3(a)(4), (e). As a49 C.F.R. § 1552.3(a)(4), (e). As a
consequence, an alien like Petitioner who has been deniedconsequence, an alien like Petitioner who has been denied
clearance by TSA is ineligible to be certified by FAA to flyclearance by TSA is ineligible to be certified by FAA to fly
these U.S.-registered aircraft.these U.S.-registered aircraft.

Petitioner claims that TSA failed to satisfy thePetitioner claims that TSA failed to satisfy the
requirements of 5 U.S.C. § 555(e) when it initially rejectedrequirements of 5 U.S.C. § 555(e) when it initially rejected
his application for training because the agency gave nohis application for training because the agency gave no
“grounds for denial.” Petitioner also claims that TSA’s action“grounds for denial.” Petitioner also claims that TSA’s action
was “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, orwas “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or
otherwise not in accordance with law,” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A),otherwise not in accordance with law,” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A),
 because  because TSA TSA failed failed to to consider consider all all relevant relevant factors factors regardingregarding
his application for flight training.his application for flight training.
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The record supports Petitioner’s claim under § 555(e). InThe record supports Petitioner’s claim under § 555(e). In
these circumstances, we would normally remand the case tothese circumstances, we would normally remand the case to
the agency to explain the grounds for its denial of Petitioner’sthe agency to explain the grounds for its denial of Petitioner’s
training application. However, shortly after Petitioner filed htraining application. However, shortly after Petitioner filed hisis
 petition  petition for for review, review, TSA TSA submitted submitted to to the the court court internalinternal
agency materials that include the findings of TSA’sagency materials that include the findings of TSA’s
 background  background investigation investigation of of Petitioner Petitioner as as well well as as internalinternal
agency communications regarding Petitioner’s application.agency communications regarding Petitioner’s application.
TSA also submitted the sworn declaration of Andrea TSA also submitted the sworn declaration of Andrea Vara, theVara, the
Government official who acted on behalf of TSA to denyGovernment official who acted on behalf of TSA to deny
Petitioner’s application, explaining the grounds supportingPetitioner’s application, explaining the grounds supporting
TSA’s determination that Petitioner was a risk to aviation andTSA’s determination that Petitioner was a risk to aviation and

national security. The Vara Declaration confirms that thenational security. The Vara Declaration confirms that the
internal agency materials express TSA’s reasoned,internal agency materials express TSA’s reasoned,
contemporaneous explanation for its decision.contemporaneous explanation for its decision.

Petitioner does not question the authenticity of the VaraPetitioner does not question the authenticity of the Vara
Declaration or the authority of the declarant; and we do notDeclaration or the authority of the declarant; and we do not
have any reason to doubt the veracity of the submission. TSAhave any reason to doubt the veracity of the submission. TSA
thus contends that a remand of this case would be pointless.thus contends that a remand of this case would be pointless.
We agree.We agree. See, e.g.See, e.g.,,  Tourus Records, Inc. v. DEA  Tourus Records, Inc. v. DEA, 259 F.3d, 259 F.3d
731, 737-40 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (holding that even though a731, 737-40 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (holding that even though a
letter from the Drug Enforcement Agency to the claimant wasletter from the Drug Enforcement Agency to the claimant was
insufficient to satisfy DEA’s obligation under 5 U.S.C.insufficient to satisfy DEA’s obligation under 5 U.S.C.
§ § 555(e) to 555(e) to set forth set forth reasons for reasons for its decision its decision against theagainst the
claimant, the court would not remand the case for additionalclaimant, the court would not remand the case for additional
 proceedings  proceedings because because internal internal DEA DEA memoranda memoranda upon upon whichwhich
the letter was based clarified and justified the agency’sthe letter was based clarified and justified the agency’s
decision). The internal agency materials, as illuminated by thedecision). The internal agency materials, as illuminated by the
Vara Declaration, offer a clear and reasonable statement ofVara Declaration, offer a clear and reasonable statement of
the grounds upon which TSA relied in denying Petitioner’sthe grounds upon which TSA relied in denying Petitioner’s
application for flight training. And, as we explain below, theapplication for flight training. And, as we explain below, the
Declaration and the internal agency materials to which itDeclaration and the internal agency materials to which it
refers are not impermissiblerefers are not impermissible  post  post hochoc  rationalizations.  rationalizations.
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Therefore, because Petitioner and the court have a writtenTherefore, because Petitioner and the court have a written
statement explaining the grounds and rationale for TSA’sstatement explaining the grounds and rationale for TSA’s
action, and because we find that the agency action againstaction, and because we find that the agency action against
Petitioner was not arbitrary, capricious, an abuse ofPetitioner was not arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of
discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law, wediscretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law, we
conclude that there is no need to remand the case for furtherconclude that there is no need to remand the case for further
consideration. We therefore deny the petition for review.consideration. We therefore deny the petition for review.

I. BI. BACKGROUNDACKGROUND  

In the aftermath of the tragic terrorist attacks onIn the aftermath of the tragic terrorist attacks on
September 11, 2001, Congress created the TransportationSeptember 11, 2001, Congress created the Transportation
Security Administration to shore up our nation’s civil aviationSecurity Administration to shore up our nation’s civil aviation

security.security. SeeSee 49 U.S.C. § 114. TSA was initially housed in the 49 U.S.C. § 114. TSA was initially housed in the
Department of Transportation and headed by the UnderDepartment of Transportation and headed by the Under
Secretary of Transportation for Security.Secretary of Transportation for Security.  Id. Id. § 114(a)-(b). In§ 114(a)-(b). In
2002, TSA was moved to the newly created Department of2002, TSA was moved to the newly created Department of
Homeland Security under the direction of the Secretary ofHomeland Security under the direction of the Secretary of
Homeland Security.Homeland Security. SeeSee 6 U.S.C. § 203(2). 6 U.S.C. § 203(2).

This case involves TSA’s role in determining whetherThis case involves TSA’s role in determining whether
alien pilots may be certified to operate large, U.S.-registeredalien pilots may be certified to operate large, U.S.-registered
aircraft. “Large aircraft means aircraft of more than 12,500aircraft. “Large aircraft means aircraft of more than 12,500
 pounds,  pounds, maximum maximum certificated certificated takeoff takeoff weight.” weight.” 14 14 C.F.R.C.F.R.
§ 1.1 (emphasis omitted). No pilot may “serve in any capacity§ 1.1 (emphasis omitted). No pilot may “serve in any capacity
as an airman with respect to a civil aircraft . . . in airas an airman with respect to a civil aircraft . . . in air
commerce . . . without an airman certificate” from FAA. 49commerce . . . without an airman certificate” from FAA. 49
U.S.C. § 44711(a)(2);U.S.C. § 44711(a)(2); see also see also 14 C.F.R. § 61.3(a). For large14 C.F.R. § 61.3(a). For large
aircraft, pilots must obtain additional certification known as aaircraft, pilots must obtain additional certification known as a
Type Rating. 14 C.F.R. § 61.31(a)(1). Aliens who seekType Rating. 14 C.F.R. § 61.31(a)(1). Aliens who seek
training and certification to operate large, U.S.-registeredtraining and certification to operate large, U.S.-registered
aircraft must first secure clearance by TSA.aircraft must first secure clearance by TSA. SeeSee  49 U.S.C.  49 U.S.C.
§ § 44939(a). If 44939(a). If TSA “deTSA “determine[s] that [an termine[s] that [an alien applicant]alien applicant]
 presents  presents a a risk risk to to aviation aviation or or national national security,” security,” then then thatthat
applicant is ineligible to receive the training necessary toapplicant is ineligible to receive the training necessary to
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secure a large aircraft Type Rating from FAA.secure a large aircraft Type Rating from FAA. See id.See id.;; seesee
alsoalso 49 C.F.R. § 1552.3(a)(4), (e).49 C.F.R. § 1552.3(a)(4), (e).

Petitioner is an alien pilot who formerly lived and Petitioner is an alien pilot who formerly lived and workedworked
in the United States. On February 14, 2007, he was convictedin the United States. On February 14, 2007, he was convicted
in federal court of conspiracy to possess with intent toin federal court of conspiracy to possess with intent to
distribute controlled substances in violation of 21 U.S.C. §distribute controlled substances in violation of 21 U.S.C. §
846. He was sentenced to serve 80 months in prison, followed846. He was sentenced to serve 80 months in prison, followed
 by  by 60 60 months months of of supervised supervised release. release. On On December December 17, 17, 2007,2007,
FAA sent Petitioner a letter revoking his pilot certification,FAA sent Petitioner a letter revoking his pilot certification,
effective January 7, 2008. Petitioner was subsequentlyeffective January 7, 2008. Petitioner was subsequently
deported on March 3, 2010.deported on March 3, 2010.

After being deported, Petitioner worked as a pilot inAfter being deported, Petitioner worked as a pilot in
Venezuela. In 2011, he was presented with an opportunity toVenezuela. In 2011, he was presented with an opportunity to
fly a large, U.S.-registered aircraft, which required him tofly a large, U.S.-registered aircraft, which required him to
receive training for the appropriate Type Rating and then seekreceive training for the appropriate Type Rating and then seek
the appropriate certification from FAA. To achieve thesethe appropriate certification from FAA. To achieve these
ends, Petitioner applied for admission to an FAA-certifiedends, Petitioner applied for admission to an FAA-certified
flight school in France. TSA then conducted a backgroundflight school in France. TSA then conducted a background
investigation of Petitioner. Although TSA uncoveredinvestigation of Petitioner. Although TSA uncovered
Petitioner’s 2007 drug conviction, TSA granted himPetitioner’s 2007 drug conviction, TSA granted him
 permission  permission to to attend attend flight flight school. school. Petitioner Petitioner successfullysuccessfully
completed flight school and obtained his Type Rating as wellcompleted flight school and obtained his Type Rating as well
as various other FAA certifications.as various other FAA certifications.

In 2012, the U.S. Government Accountability OfficeIn 2012, the U.S. Government Accountability Office
(“GAO”) published a report criticizing TSA’s background(“GAO”) published a report criticizing TSA’s background
investigations of alien pilots. GAO, Winvestigations of alien pilots. GAO, WEAKNESSESEAKNESSES EEXIST INXIST IN

TSA’TSA’SS PPROCESS FORROCESS FOR EE NSURING NSURING FFOREIGNOREIGN FFLIGHTLIGHT SSTUDENTSTUDENTS

DDOO  N NOTOT PPOSE AOSE A SSECURITYECURITY TTHREATHREAT  (July 2012) (“GAO  (July 2012) (“GAO
Report” or “Report”). The Report highlighted that TSA’sReport” or “Report”). The Report highlighted that TSA’s
investigation methods did not always thoroughly examine aninvestigation methods did not always thoroughly examine an
alien’s immigration status, and expressed concern that, as aalien’s immigration status, and expressed concern that, as a
result, the investigation might not identify all alien flight-result, the investigation might not identify all alien flight-
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school applicants presenting a security threat.school applicants presenting a security threat. See id.See id. at 28-33.at 28-33.
In response to the Report, TSA revised its background checkIn response to the Report, TSA revised its background check
 procedures.  procedures. Under Under the the new new procedures, procedures, TSA TSA thoroughlythoroughly
examines the immigration statuses of flight-school applicants.examines the immigration statuses of flight-school applicants.
If an applicant is not eligible for admission into the UnitedIf an applicant is not eligible for admission into the United
States and is seeking permission to attend an FAA-certifiedStates and is seeking permission to attend an FAA-certified
flight training program outside of the United States, TSAflight training program outside of the United States, TSA
 pursues  pursues a a more more searching searching investigation investigation to to determine determine whetherwhether
the applicant presents a risk to aviation or national security.the applicant presents a risk to aviation or national security.

In 2014, Petitioner received another opportunity to pilot aIn 2014, Petitioner received another opportunity to pilot a
large, U.S.-registered aircraft. Although his general FAAlarge, U.S.-registered aircraft. Although his general FAA
credentials remained valid, Petitioner’s Type Rating hadcredentials remained valid, Petitioner’s Type Rating had

expired. As before, Petitioner applied to attend an FAA-expired. As before, Petitioner applied to attend an FAA-
certified flight school in France, and TSA conducted acertified flight school in France, and TSA conducted a
 background investigation. background investigation.  

Pursuant to TSA’s new procedures, the agency’sPursuant to TSA’s new procedures, the agency’s
investigation flagged that Petitioner was inadmissible to enterinvestigation flagged that Petitioner was inadmissible to enter
the United States due to his 2007 drug conviction. As a result,the United States due to his 2007 drug conviction. As a result,
Petitioner’s application was referred for further investigation.Petitioner’s application was referred for further investigation.
The investigation uncovered that, in addition to his 2007 drugThe investigation uncovered that, in addition to his 2007 drug
conviction, Petitioner had been suspected of firearmsconviction, Petitioner had been suspected of firearms
trafficking in 1998 in Aruba. TSA also discovered that, eventrafficking in 1998 in Aruba. TSA also discovered that, even
though he had been deported with no right to return to thethough he had been deported with no right to return to the
United States, Petitioner maintained a local address inUnited States, Petitioner maintained a local address in
Massachusetts.Massachusetts.

TSA apparently believed that Petitioner was seeking toTSA apparently believed that Petitioner was seeking to
attend a flight school in the United States. As a result, theattend a flight school in the United States. As a result, the
agency initially declined to process Petitioner’s application.agency initially declined to process Petitioner’s application.
On October 27, 2014, TSA sent Petitioner the following emailOn October 27, 2014, TSA sent Petitioner the following email
message:message:
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This training request cannot be processed for theThis training request cannot be processed for the
following reason(s): [TSA] has received information infollowing reason(s): [TSA] has received information in
regards to your immigration status. As a result, yourregards to your immigration status. As a result, your
current training request to attend flight training at acurrent training request to attend flight training at a
United States flight school has been cancelled. If youUnited States flight school has been cancelled. If you
resolve your immigration status and provide theresolve your immigration status and provide the
appropriate supporting documentation this cancellationappropriate supporting documentation this cancellation
may be lifted and your training request approvalmay be lifted and your training request approval
reinstated.reinstated.

Petitioner immediately responded to TSA, explaining that hePetitioner immediately responded to TSA, explaining that he
sought to attend flight school in France and not in the Unitedsought to attend flight school in France and not in the United
States.States.

With Petitioner’s clarification in hand, TSA performed aWith Petitioner’s clarification in hand, TSA performed a
follow-up review of his file. After this further review, TSAfollow-up review of his file. After this further review, TSA
concluded that Petitioner was a “Threat toconcluded that Petitioner was a “Threat to
Transportation/National Security.” On November 5, 2014,Transportation/National Security.” On November 5, 2014,
TSA sent an email to Petitioner denying his application. TheTSA sent an email to Petitioner denying his application. The
email stated:email stated:

Pursuant to Title 49 of the Code of Federal RegulationsPursuant to Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations
[§] 1552.3(e), your training request has been denied as[§] 1552.3(e), your training request has been denied as
TSA is unable to determine that you do not pose a threatTSA is unable to determine that you do not pose a threat
to aviation or national security. This letter constitutesto aviation or national security. This letter constitutes
TSA’s final determination.TSA’s final determination.

TSA’s email gave no further explanation for its denial ofTSA’s email gave no further explanation for its denial of
Petitioner’s application.Petitioner’s application.

On January 5, 2015, Petitioner filed his petition forOn January 5, 2015, Petitioner filed his petition for
review with this court. On March 26, 2015, Andrea Varareview with this court. On March 26, 2015, Andrea Vara
executed a sworn declaration explaining TSA’s grounds forexecuted a sworn declaration explaining TSA’s grounds for
denying Petitioner’s application for training. Ms. Vara isdenying Petitioner’s application for training. Ms. Vara is
employed by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security,employed by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security,
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Transportation Security Administration, as the Alien FlightTransportation Security Administration, as the Alien Flight
Student Program Manager. She has been “responsible forStudent Program Manager. She has been “responsible for
managing TSA’s Alien Flight Student Program, whichmanaging TSA’s Alien Flight Student Program, which
conducts security threat assessments on individuals who areconducts security threat assessments on individuals who are
not U.S. citizens or nationals who seek flight instruction ornot U.S. citizens or nationals who seek flight instruction or
recurrent training from Federal Aviation Administrationrecurrent training from Federal Aviation Administration
(FAA)-certified flight training providers . . . . [Her] duties(FAA)-certified flight training providers . . . . [Her] duties
include making final decisions regarding whether suchinclude making final decisions regarding whether such
individuals pose a threat to aviation or national security.”individuals pose a threat to aviation or national security.”
Vara Declaration at 1, ¶ 3.Vara Declaration at 1, ¶ 3.

The Vara Declaration makes it clear that Ms. Vara wasThe Vara Declaration makes it clear that Ms. Vara was
the Government official who made the determination thatthe Government official who made the determination that

Petitioner’s application should be denied because hePetitioner’s application should be denied because he
 presented  presented a a risk risk to to aviation aviation and and national national security. security. TheThe
Declaration not only explains the agency’s rationale, it alsoDeclaration not only explains the agency’s rationale, it also
cites internal materials that TSA had before it at the timecites internal materials that TSA had before it at the time
when the determination was made to deny Petitioner’swhen the determination was made to deny Petitioner’s
application. These materials are included in the parties’ Jointapplication. These materials are included in the parties’ Joint
Appendix. The Vara Declaration states,Appendix. The Vara Declaration states, inter aliainter alia::

12. 12. In In October October 2014, 2014, Petitioner Petitioner submitted submitted TrainingTraining
Request #565192, seeking to train at FlightSafetyRequest #565192, seeking to train at FlightSafety
International – Paris Learning Center from November 10International – Paris Learning Center from November 10
- November 17, 2014.- November 17, 2014.

13. 13. Pursuant Pursuant to to the the revised revised procedure, procedure, Petitioner Petitioner waswas
subject to an investigation, which revealed the following.subject to an investigation, which revealed the following.
In 2007, Petitioner pled guilty to conspiracy to possessIn 2007, Petitioner pled guilty to conspiracy to possess
with intent to distribute controlled substances and thewith intent to distribute controlled substances and the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of IllinoisU.S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois
sentenced him to eighty (80) months imprisonment.sentenced him to eighty (80) months imprisonment.
Petitioner’s conviction made him inadmissible to thePetitioner’s conviction made him inadmissible to the
United States and led to the revocation of his FAAUnited States and led to the revocation of his FAA
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Airman’s Certificate. Petitioner was deported to his homeAirman’s Certificate. Petitioner was deported to his home
country of Venezuela in March 2010.country of Venezuela in March 2010.

14. 14. A A public public news news article article published published after after PetitionerPetitioner
was deported provided a U.S. address for Petitioner.was deported provided a U.S. address for Petitioner.
Further, records indicated that Petitioner was a suspectedFurther, records indicated that Petitioner was a suspected
international trafficker in firearms. There was evidenceinternational trafficker in firearms. There was evidence
that Petitioner had previously been involved in the exportthat Petitioner had previously been involved in the export
of weapons and U.S. currency to Venezuela by privateof weapons and U.S. currency to Venezuela by private
aircraft, was the second pilot of an aircraft from whichaircraft, was the second pilot of an aircraft from which
several weapons and $500,000 was seized by localseveral weapons and $500,000 was seized by local
authorities in Aruba, and that one of his associates wasauthorities in Aruba, and that one of his associates was
arrested in Aruba for smuggling firearms. [Footnote 6]arrested in Aruba for smuggling firearms. [Footnote 6]

[Footnote 6] Some of this information was from the late 1990s.[Footnote 6] Some of this information was from the late 1990s.
I considered its age when determining whether Petitioner posedI considered its age when determining whether Petitioner posed
a risk. Because the evidence indicated Petitioner had smuggleda risk. Because the evidence indicated Petitioner had smuggled
weapons and money and was convicted for drug trafficking, Iweapons and money and was convicted for drug trafficking, I
concluded these were not isolated incidents, and rather revealedconcluded these were not isolated incidents, and rather revealed
Petitioner’s consistent disregard for the law.Petitioner’s consistent disregard for the law.

15. 15. This This information, information, viewed viewed as as a a whole,whole,
demonstrated Petitioner’s willingness to consistentlydemonstrated Petitioner’s willingness to consistently
disregard the law and to use an aircraft for criminaldisregard the law and to use an aircraft for criminal
activity, in opposition to U.S. security interests. Theactivity, in opposition to U.S. security interests. The
information also raised concerns that Petitioner may useinformation also raised concerns that Petitioner may use

his flight training to advance the interests of a criminalhis flight training to advance the interests of a criminalenterprise, which could include an enterprise that seeks toenterprise, which could include an enterprise that seeks to
do harm to the United States.do harm to the United States.

16. 16. Based Based on on all all the the foregoing foregoing information, information, II
concluded Petitioner posed a threat to aviation andconcluded Petitioner posed a threat to aviation and
national security and [TSA’s Alien Flight Studentnational security and [TSA’s Alien Flight Student
Program] denied his training request on November 5,Program] denied his training request on November 5,
2014.2014.
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Vara Declaration at 3-4 & n.6, ¶¶ 12-16.Vara Declaration at 3-4 & n.6, ¶¶ 12-16.

The entire Vara Declaration was included in the parties’The entire Vara Declaration was included in the parties’
Joint Appendix that was submitted to the court. Both partiesJoint Appendix that was submitted to the court. Both parties
discuss the Vara Declaration in their briefs to the court. And,discuss the Vara Declaration in their briefs to the court. And,
as noted above, Petitioner does not question the authenticityas noted above, Petitioner does not question the authenticity
of the Vara Declaration or the authority of the declarant; andof the Vara Declaration or the authority of the declarant; and
we do not have any reason to doubt the veracity of TSA’swe do not have any reason to doubt the veracity of TSA’s
account of the grounds justifying the agency’s denial ofaccount of the grounds justifying the agency’s denial of
Petitioner’s application for flight training.Petitioner’s application for flight training.

II. ANALYSISII. ANALYSIS

A. A. TTHEHE CCOURTOURT’’SS JJURISDICTIONURISDICTION

As noted above, Petitioner has invoked the jurisdiction ofAs noted above, Petitioner has invoked the jurisdiction of
the court under 49 U.S.C. § 46110(a). An action taken bythe court under 49 U.S.C. § 46110(a). An action taken by
TSA on behalf of the Secretary of Homeland Security underTSA on behalf of the Secretary of Homeland Security under
the authority of 49 U.S.C. § 44939(a) is clearly subject tothe authority of 49 U.S.C. § 44939(a) is clearly subject to
review under § 46110(a). The Government does not questionreview under § 46110(a). The Government does not question
the court’s subject matter jurisdiction, nor do we have anythe court’s subject matter jurisdiction, nor do we have any
doubt that Petitioner is properly before this court.doubt that Petitioner is properly before this court.

The Government contends that, “[t]o the extent thatThe Government contends that, “[t]o the extent that
 petitioner  petitioner argues argues that that the the agency agency erred erred in in weighing weighing thethe

evidence, judicial review of the agency’s expert judgmentevidence, judicial review of the agency’s expert judgmentregarding the level of risk to accept in permitting aliens toregarding the level of risk to accept in permitting aliens to
attend flight school is highly deferential.” Br. for Respondentsattend flight school is highly deferential.” Br. for Respondents
at 11. This is indisputable. There are portions of theat 11. This is indisputable. There are portions of the
Government’s argument, however, that appear to conflateGovernment’s argument, however, that appear to conflate
subject matter jurisdiction, Petitioner’s APA causes of action,subject matter jurisdiction, Petitioner’s APA causes of action,
and the applicable standard of review.and the applicable standard of review. See,See,  e.ge.g.,., id.id. at 11-12 &at 11-12 &
n.3. Lest there be any confusion on this point, we want to ben.3. Lest there be any confusion on this point, we want to be
 plain  plain in in saying saying that, that, under under established established law, law, the the court court hashas
 jurisdiction  jurisdiction under under 49 49 U.S.C. U.S.C. § § 46110(a) 46110(a) to to review review actionsactions

USCA USCA Case Case #15-1001 #15-1001 Document Document #1608928 #1608928 Filed: Filed: 04/15/2016 04/15/2016 Page Page 10 10 of of 1919



    

1111

taken by TSA pursuant to the authority of § 44939. The extenttaken by TSA pursuant to the authority of § 44939. The extent
to which the court defers to TSA’s judgment that a personto which the court defers to TSA’s judgment that a person
should be denied flight training because he poses a risk toshould be denied flight training because he poses a risk to
aviation or national security is a different matter that concernsaviation or national security is a different matter that concerns
the standard of review, not jurisdiction.the standard of review, not jurisdiction.

BB.. SSTANDARD OFTANDARD OF RREVIEWEVIEW  

Pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, we mustPursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, we must
uphold TSA’s decisions unless they are “arbitrary, capricious,uphold TSA’s decisions unless they are “arbitrary, capricious,
an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance withan abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with
law.”law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)( 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A);A); see alsosee also Alaska Airlines, Inc. v. Alaska Airlines, Inc. v.

TSATSA, 588 F.3d 1116, 1120 (D.C. Cir. 2009)., 588 F.3d 1116, 1120 (D.C. Cir. 2009).  During oral  During oral

argument, Government counsel acknowledged that this caseargument, Government counsel acknowledged that this case
does not involve any materials of a sensitive nature thatdoes not involve any materials of a sensitive nature that
should not be disclosed due to security concerns. Even inshould not be disclosed due to security concerns. Even in
cases in which sensitive materials may be in issue, however,cases in which sensitive materials may be in issue, however,
“the court has inherent authority to review classified material“the court has inherent authority to review classified material
ex parteex parte,, in camerain camera  as part of its judicial review function.”  as part of its judicial review function.”
 Jifry  Jifry v. v. FAAFAA, 370 F.3d 1174, 1181-82 (D.C. Cir. 2004), 370 F.3d 1174, 1181-82 (D.C. Cir. 2004)
(reviewing(reviewing in camerain camera TSA’s internal materials under the APATSA’s internal materials under the APA
in upholding TSA’s determination that two pilots posed ain upholding TSA’s determination that two pilots posed a
security threat).security threat).

What is important here is that, “because Congress hasWhat is important here is that, “because Congress has

entrusted TSA with broad authority over ‘civil aviationentrusted TSA with broad authority over ‘civil aviationsecurity,’ it is ‘TSA’s job—not . . . ours—to strike a balancesecurity,’ it is ‘TSA’s job—not . . . ours—to strike a balance
 between  between convenience convenience and and security.’”security.’”  Amerijet  Amerijet Int’l, Int’l, Inc. Inc. v.v.

PistolePistole, 753 F.3d 1343, 1350 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (citations, 753 F.3d 1343, 1350 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (citations
omitted) (citingomitted) (citing Suburban Air Freight, Inc. v. TSASuburban Air Freight, Inc. v. TSA, 716 F.3d, 716 F.3d
679, 683 (D.C. Cir. 2013)). Therefore, in cases of this sort, we679, 683 (D.C. Cir. 2013)). Therefore, in cases of this sort, we
must defer to TSA actions that reasonably interpret andmust defer to TSA actions that reasonably interpret and
enforce the safety and security obligations of the agency.enforce the safety and security obligations of the agency. SeeSee  
Suburban Air Freight Suburban Air Freight , 716 F.3d at 683. As we explain below,, 716 F.3d at 683. As we explain below,
courts do not second-guess expert agency judgments oncourts do not second-guess expert agency judgments on
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 potential  potential risks risks to to national national security. security. Rather, Rather, we we defer defer to to thethe
informed judgment of agency officials whose obligation it isinformed judgment of agency officials whose obligation it is
to assess risks to national security. See theto assess risks to national security. See the  discussion in partdiscussion in part
II.D,II.D, infrainfra..

C. C. PPETITIONERETITIONER’’SS CCLAIMLAIM UUNDERNDER SSECTIONECTION 555(e)555(e)  OF THE  OF THE

APAAPA

Section 555(e) of the APA provides:Section 555(e) of the APA provides:

Prompt notice shall be given of the denial in wholePrompt notice shall be given of the denial in whole
or in part of a written application, petition, or otheror in part of a written application, petition, or other
request of an interested person made in connection withrequest of an interested person made in connection with

any agency proceeding. Except in affirming a prior denialany agency proceeding. Except in affirming a prior denial
or when the denial is self-explanatory, the notice shall beor when the denial is self-explanatory, the notice shall be
accompanied by a brief statement of the grounds foraccompanied by a brief statement of the grounds for
denial.denial.

5 U.S.C. § 555(e). Petitioner claims that TSA’s November 5,5 U.S.C. § 555(e). Petitioner claims that TSA’s November 5,
2014 email to him denying his application for flight training2014 email to him denying his application for flight training
violated the requirements of § 555(e) because the emailviolated the requirements of § 555(e) because the email
offered no statement of the grounds for the agency’s denial.offered no statement of the grounds for the agency’s denial.
As noted above, Petitioner’s claim, at least at first blush, isAs noted above, Petitioner’s claim, at least at first blush, is
compelling.compelling.

InIn Tourus Records, Inc. v. DEATourus Records, Inc. v. DEA, we explained:, we explained:

A “fundamental” requirement of administrative law isA “fundamental” requirement of administrative law is
that an agency “set forth its reasons” for decision; anthat an agency “set forth its reasons” for decision; an
agency’s failure to do so constitutes arbitrary andagency’s failure to do so constitutes arbitrary and
capricious agency action. That fundamental requirementcapricious agency action. That fundamental requirement
is codified in section 6(d) of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 555(e).is codified in section 6(d) of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 555(e).
Section 6(d) mandates that whenever an agency denies “aSection 6(d) mandates that whenever an agency denies “a
written application, petition, or other request of anwritten application, petition, or other request of an
interested person made in connection with any agencyinterested person made in connection with any agency
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 proceeding,”  proceeding,” the the agency agency must must provide provide “a “a brief brief statementstatement
of the grounds for denial,” unless the denial is “self-of the grounds for denial,” unless the denial is “self-
explanatory.” This requirement not only ensures theexplanatory.” This requirement not only ensures the
agency’s careful consideration of such requests, but alsoagency’s careful consideration of such requests, but also
gives parties the opportunity to apprise the agency of anygives parties the opportunity to apprise the agency of any
errors it may have made and, if the agency persists in itserrors it may have made and, if the agency persists in its
decision, facilitates judicial review. Although nothingdecision, facilitates judicial review. Although nothing
more than a “brief statement” is necessary, the coremore than a “brief statement” is necessary, the core
requirement is that the agency explain “why it chose torequirement is that the agency explain “why it chose to
do what it did.” Henry J. Friendly, Chenerydo what it did.” Henry J. Friendly, Chenery  Revisited:  Revisited:

 Reflections  Reflections on on Reversal Reversal and and Remand Remand of of AdministrativeAdministrative

OrdersOrders, 1969 D, 1969 DUKEUKE L.J. 199, 222.L.J. 199, 222.

259 F.3d at 737 (citations omitted). TSA’s email to Petitioner259 F.3d at 737 (citations omitted). TSA’s email to Petitioner
denying his application for flight training did not meet thisdenying his application for flight training did not meet this
APA standard. The email simply parroted the words of 49APA standard. The email simply parroted the words of 49
U.S.C. § 44939(a), without offering anything to explain whyU.S.C. § 44939(a), without offering anything to explain why
TSA had determined that Petitioner presented a risk toTSA had determined that Petitioner presented a risk to
aviation or national security. And TSA has not argued that theaviation or national security. And TSA has not argued that the
reasons behind the denial of Petitioner’s application werereasons behind the denial of Petitioner’s application were
“self-explanatory.” 5 U.S.C. § 555(e). “The [email] thus“self-explanatory.” 5 U.S.C. § 555(e). “The [email] thus
 provides  provides no no basis basis upon upon which which we we could could conclude conclude that that it it waswas
the product of reasoned decisionmaking.”the product of reasoned decisionmaking.” Tourus RecordsTourus Records,,
259 F.3d at 737.259 F.3d at 737.

“When an agency provides a statement of reasons“When an agency provides a statement of reasonsinsufficient to permit a court to discern its rationale, or statesinsufficient to permit a court to discern its rationale, or states
no reasons at all, the usual remedy is a ‘remand to the agencyno reasons at all, the usual remedy is a ‘remand to the agency
for additional investigation or explanation.’”for additional investigation or explanation.’” Id. Id. (quoting (quoting Fla.Fla.

Power & Light Co. v. LorionPower & Light Co. v. Lorion, 470 U.S. 729, 744 (1985)). This, 470 U.S. 729, 744 (1985)). This
case presents an unusual situation, however, because, aftercase presents an unusual situation, however, because, after
Petitioner filed his petition for review, TSA submitted thePetitioner filed his petition for review, TSA submitted the
Vara Declaration and other internal agency documents that,Vara Declaration and other internal agency documents that,
together, offer a clear statement of the grounds and rationaletogether, offer a clear statement of the grounds and rationale
upon which TSA relied in denying Petitioner’s application forupon which TSA relied in denying Petitioner’s application for
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flight training. The internal materials include the findings offlight training. The internal materials include the findings of
TSA’s background investigation of Petitioner as well asTSA’s background investigation of Petitioner as well as
internal agency communications. And, as explained by theinternal agency communications. And, as explained by the
Vara Declaration, these internal materials express TSA’sVara Declaration, these internal materials express TSA’s
reasoned, contemporaneous explanation for its decision. Thereasoned, contemporaneous explanation for its decision. The
internal materials are not impermissible “internal materials are not impermissible “ post  post hochoc  
rationalizations” for agency action.rationalizations” for agency action. Tourus RecordsTourus Records, 259 F.3d, 259 F.3d
at 738 (quotingat 738 (quoting Burlington T Burlington Truck Linesruck Lines, Inc. , Inc. v. Uv. United Statesnited States,,
371 U.S. 156, 168 (1962)). Rather, they “represent the371 U.S. 156, 168 (1962)). Rather, they “represent the
‘contemporaneous explanation of the agency decision,’” and,‘contemporaneous explanation of the agency decision,’” and,
therefore, they are “appropriate subjects for ourtherefore, they are “appropriate subjects for our
consideration.”consideration.” Id. Id.  

The Vara Declaration is aThe Vara Declaration is a  post-hoc post-hoc  account. It is  account. It is
 persuasive,  persuasive, however, however, because because it it shows shows that that the the previouslypreviously
undisclosed internal materials in fact do state theundisclosed internal materials in fact do state the
contemporaneous explanation for TSA’s denial of Petitioner’scontemporaneous explanation for TSA’s denial of Petitioner’s
application. The Vara Declaration “illuminate[s]” the reasonsapplication. The Vara Declaration “illuminate[s]” the reasons
that are implicit in the internal materials.that are implicit in the internal materials. Clifford v. PeñaClifford v. Peña, 77, 77
F.3d 1414, 1418 (D.C. Cir. 1996). In other words, the VaraF.3d 1414, 1418 (D.C. Cir. 1996). In other words, the Vara
Declaration furnishes an explanation of the administrativeDeclaration furnishes an explanation of the administrative
action that is necessary to facilitate effective judicial review.action that is necessary to facilitate effective judicial review.
Camp v. PittsCamp v. Pitts, 411 U.S. 138, 142-43 (1973). The critical point, 411 U.S. 138, 142-43 (1973). The critical point
is that the Vara Declaration contains “no newis that the Vara Declaration contains “no new
rationalizations”; it is “merely explanatory of the originalrationalizations”; it is “merely explanatory of the original

record,” and thus admissible for our consideration.record,” and thus admissible for our consideration. Envtl. Def. Envtl. Def.Fund., Inc. v. CostleFund., Inc. v. Costle, 657 F.2d 275, 285 (1981) (citations, 657 F.2d 275, 285 (1981) (citations
omitted);omitted); see alsosee also   Manhattan  Manhattan Tankers, Tankers, Inc. v. Inc. v. DoleDole, 787 F.2d, 787 F.2d
667, 672 n.6 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (upholding “the [agency’s]667, 672 n.6 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (upholding “the [agency’s]
decision on the basis of [the decision maker’s] affidavit[],”decision on the basis of [the decision maker’s] affidavit[],”
where the affidavit was “consistent with the administrativewhere the affidavit was “consistent with the administrative
record”).record”).  

Importantly, the Vara Declaration explains that, as aImportantly, the Vara Declaration explains that, as a
result of the July 2012 GAO Report, TSA changed the wayresult of the July 2012 GAO Report, TSA changed the way
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that it conducts its background investigations. TSA nowthat it conducts its background investigations. TSA now
thoroughly examines the immigration statuses of flight-schoolthoroughly examines the immigration statuses of flight-school
applicants, and, if an applicant is not eligible for admission toapplicants, and, if an applicant is not eligible for admission to
the United States and is seeking training outside the country,the United States and is seeking training outside the country,
the applicant’s file is flagged for further review. The Varathe applicant’s file is flagged for further review. The Vara
Declaration then summarizes what is stated in TSA’s internalDeclaration then summarizes what is stated in TSA’s internal
materials: that in this case, the investigation had flagged thatmaterials: that in this case, the investigation had flagged that
Petitioner was inadmissible due to his 2007 drug convictionPetitioner was inadmissible due to his 2007 drug conviction
and had then further discovered that Petitioner maintained aand had then further discovered that Petitioner maintained a
U.S. address and had been suspected of firearms trafficking.U.S. address and had been suspected of firearms trafficking.   
The Declaration also makes it clear that Ms. Vara, on behalfThe Declaration also makes it clear that Ms. Vara, on behalf
of TSA, considered all of the information in Petitioner’sof TSA, considered all of the information in Petitioner’s
record, and, on the basis of that record, reached the followingrecord, and, on the basis of that record, reached the following

conclusion:conclusion:

Some of this information [that I considered] wasSome of this information [that I considered] was
from the late 1990s. I considered its age whenfrom the late 1990s. I considered its age when
determining whether Petitioner posed a risk. Because thedetermining whether Petitioner posed a risk. Because the
evidence indicated Petitioner had smuggled weapons andevidence indicated Petitioner had smuggled weapons and
money and was convicted for drug trafficking, Imoney and was convicted for drug trafficking, I
concluded these were not isolated incidents, and ratherconcluded these were not isolated incidents, and rather
revealed Petitioner’s consistent disregard for the law.revealed Petitioner’s consistent disregard for the law.

This information, viewed as a whole, demonstratedThis information, viewed as a whole, demonstrated
Petitioner’s willingness to consistently disregard the lawPetitioner’s willingness to consistently disregard the law

and to use an aircraft for criminal activity, in oppositionand to use an aircraft for criminal activity, in oppositionto U.S. security interests. The information also raisedto U.S. security interests. The information also raised
concerns that Petitioner may use his flight training toconcerns that Petitioner may use his flight training to
advance the interests of a criminal enterprise, whichadvance the interests of a criminal enterprise, which
could include an enterprise that seeks to do harm to thecould include an enterprise that seeks to do harm to the
United States.United States.

Based on all the foregoing information, I concludedBased on all the foregoing information, I concluded
Petitioner posed a threat to aviation and national securityPetitioner posed a threat to aviation and national security
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and [TSA’s Alien Flight Student Program] denied hisand [TSA’s Alien Flight Student Program] denied his
training request on November 5, 2014.training request on November 5, 2014.

Vara Declaration at 4 & n.6, ¶¶ 14-16.Vara Declaration at 4 & n.6, ¶¶ 14-16.

The Vara Declaration confirms that TSA’s decision wasThe Vara Declaration confirms that TSA’s decision was
 based  based on on some some concrete concrete information information relating relating to to Petitioner’sPetitioner’s
 personal  personal history, history, which which raised raised reasonable reasonable suspicions suspicions andand
caused TSA to reach an informed judgment that Petitionercaused TSA to reach an informed judgment that Petitioner
 presented a risk to aviation and national security. presented a risk to aviation and national security.

Although we find that the internal agency materials, asAlthough we find that the internal agency materials, as
illuminated by the Vara Declaration, satisfy the requirementsilluminated by the Vara Declaration, satisfy the requirements
of § 555(e), we add a word of caution. In the future, agenciesof § 555(e), we add a word of caution. In the future, agencies
will be well advised to obey the explicit command of §will be well advised to obey the explicit command of §
555(e), rather than counting on being able to salvage their555(e), rather than counting on being able to salvage their
actions later, after the losing party has been forced to seekactions later, after the losing party has been forced to seek
redress in courtredress in court. . Persistent scofflPersistent scofflaw behavior might cause aw behavior might cause thethe
courts to insist that the contemporaneous explanation actuallycourts to insist that the contemporaneous explanation actually
 be ex be expressed to pressed to the complaining the complaining party, as party, as the statute the statute requires,requires,
on pain of vacatur and remand. Or the courts might insist onon pain of vacatur and remand. Or the courts might insist on
 progressively  progressively more more compelling compelling indications indications that that the the reasonsreasons
offered were in fact the reasons governing the decision whenoffered were in fact the reasons governing the decision when
it was made. The offending agency action in this case wasit was made. The offending agency action in this case was
mitigated somewhat because the internal materials and themitigated somewhat because the internal materials and the

Vara Declaration were included in the parties’ JointVara Declaration were included in the parties’ JointAppendix, and Petitioner had an opportunity to review theseAppendix, and Petitioner had an opportunity to review these
materials before briefing and oral argument. This may not bematerials before briefing and oral argument. This may not be
sufficient in future cases involving agency defiance of §sufficient in future cases involving agency defiance of §
555(e).555(e).

D. D. PPETITIONERETITIONER’’SS OOTHERTHER APAAPA  CCLAIMSLAIMS  

In addition to his claim under § 555(e), Petitioner alsoIn addition to his claim under § 555(e), Petitioner also
contends that TSA’s action was “arbitrary, capricious, ancontends that TSA’s action was “arbitrary, capricious, an

USCA USCA Case Case #15-1001 #15-1001 Document Document #1608928 #1608928 Filed: Filed: 04/15/2016 04/15/2016 Page Page 16 16 of of 1919



    

1717

abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law,”abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law,”
5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), because TSA failed to consider all5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), because TSA failed to consider all
relevant factors regarding his application for flight training.relevant factors regarding his application for flight training.
We disagree.We disagree.

Petitioner argues that TSA’s rejection of his applicationPetitioner argues that TSA’s rejection of his application
is inconsistent with TSA’s October 27, 2014 email message,is inconsistent with TSA’s October 27, 2014 email message,
which merely stated that Petitioner’s status as an inadmissiblewhich merely stated that Petitioner’s status as an inadmissible
alien precluded him from attending flight schoolalien precluded him from attending flight school in the Unitedin the United

StatesStates. We do not perceive any inconsistency. The October. We do not perceive any inconsistency. The October
27, 2014 message declined to process Petitioner’s application27, 2014 message declined to process Petitioner’s application
due to his inadmissibility. Once Petitioner informed TSA thatdue to his inadmissibility. Once Petitioner informed TSA that
he sought to attend a flight school in France and not in thehe sought to attend a flight school in France and not in the
United States, TSA performed a follow-up review of hisUnited States, TSA performed a follow-up review of his
application and concluded that Petitioner presented a risk toapplication and concluded that Petitioner presented a risk to
aviation and national security.aviation and national security.

Petitioner also contends that TSA acted arbitrarilyPetitioner also contends that TSA acted arbitrarily
 because the a because the agency granted his gency granted his application in 2011 application in 2011 but deniedbut denied
it in 2014. In his Reply Brief, however, Petitioner concedesit in 2014. In his Reply Brief, however, Petitioner concedes
that TSA was unaware in 2011 of Petitioner’s Massachusettsthat TSA was unaware in 2011 of Petitioner’s Massachusetts
address and his suspected involvement in firearms trafficking.address and his suspected involvement in firearms trafficking.
More importantly, the 2011 investigation took place beforeMore importantly, the 2011 investigation took place before
TSA changed its investigation procedures to address theTSA changed its investigation procedures to address the
concerns raised in the July 2012 concerns raised in the July 2012 GAO Report.GAO Report.

Petitioner further claims that it is illogical for TSA toPetitioner further claims that it is illogical for TSA to
consider him a threat to aviation or national security, givenconsider him a threat to aviation or national security, given
that Petitioner still holds his other FAA credentials and isthat Petitioner still holds his other FAA credentials and is
currently authorized to fly various aircraft. The validity ofcurrently authorized to fly various aircraft. The validity of
Petitioner’s other credentials, however, are not before thePetitioner’s other credentials, however, are not before the
court. Moreover, FAA is directed by statute to respond tocourt. Moreover, FAA is directed by statute to respond to
TSA threat assessments by “amending, modifying,TSA threat assessments by “amending, modifying,
suspending, or revoking any part of a certificate issued undersuspending, or revoking any part of a certificate issued under
this title.” 49 U.S.C. § 46111(a). The statute also makes itthis title.” 49 U.S.C. § 46111(a). The statute also makes it
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clear that if, after approving an alien’s application forclear that if, after approving an alien’s application for
training, TSA “determines that the individual presents a risktraining, TSA “determines that the individual presents a risk
to aviation or national security,” the prior approval can beto aviation or national security,” the prior approval can be
revoked.revoked. Id. Id. § 44939(b). § 44939(b).

Finally, Petitioner argues that TSA should not have usedFinally, Petitioner argues that TSA should not have used
his suspected firearms trafficking or his Massachusettshis suspected firearms trafficking or his Massachusetts
address to support its decision. Petitioner claims that theaddress to support its decision. Petitioner claims that the
Massachusetts address actually belongs to his brother, andMassachusetts address actually belongs to his brother, and
Petitioner insists that he has never illegally entered the UnitedPetitioner insists that he has never illegally entered the United
States. Petitioner also points out that the firearms incidentStates. Petitioner also points out that the firearms incident
occurred nearly two decades ago and that he was merelyoccurred nearly two decades ago and that he was merely
suspected of being involved. In light of the limited standard ofsuspected of being involved. In light of the limited standard of
review that controls the disposition of this case, thesereview that controls the disposition of this case, these
arguments are not persuasive. It was rational for TSA to findarguments are not persuasive. It was rational for TSA to find
it suspicious and thus consider information indicating that ait suspicious and thus consider information indicating that a
deported individual appeared to maintain a current U.S.deported individual appeared to maintain a current U.S.
address and had been suspected of involvement in firearmsaddress and had been suspected of involvement in firearms
trafficking. The agency’s weighing of this information, alongtrafficking. The agency’s weighing of this information, along
with the information regarding Petitioner’s known criminalwith the information regarding Petitioner’s known criminal
history, was not inconsistent with reasoned decision making.history, was not inconsistent with reasoned decision making.
As the Vara Declaration makes clear, Petitioner’sAs the Vara Declaration makes clear, Petitioner’s record as arecord as a

wholewhole  “raised concerns that Petitioner [might] use his flight  “raised concerns that Petitioner [might] use his flight
training to advance the interests of a criminal enterprise,training to advance the interests of a criminal enterprise,
which could include an enterprise that seeks to do harm to thewhich could include an enterprise that seeks to do harm to the

United States.” Vara Declaration at 4, ¶ 15.United States.” Vara Declaration at 4, ¶ 15.

Given TSA’s broad authority to assess potential risks toGiven TSA’s broad authority to assess potential risks to
aviation and national security, the agency’s clear andaviation and national security, the agency’s clear and
reasonable explanation offered in the Vara Declaration, andreasonable explanation offered in the Vara Declaration, and
the limited standard of review, we are in no position tothe limited standard of review, we are in no position to
second-guess TSA’s judgment in denying Petitioner’ssecond-guess TSA’s judgment in denying Petitioner’s
application.application. SeeSee   Jifry Jifry, 370 F.3d at 1180. In assessing risks to, 370 F.3d at 1180. In assessing risks to
national security, “conclusions must often be based onnational security, “conclusions must often be based on
informed judgment rather than concrete evidence, and thatinformed judgment rather than concrete evidence, and that
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reality affects what we may reasonably insist on from thereality affects what we may reasonably insist on from the
Government.”Government.” Holder v.  Holder v. Humanitarian Law PrHumanitarian Law Project oject , 561 U.S., 561 U.S.
1, 34-35 (2010). “[W]hen it comes to collecting evidence and1, 34-35 (2010). “[W]hen it comes to collecting evidence and
drawing factual inferences in this area, ‘the lack ofdrawing factual inferences in this area, ‘the lack of
competence on the part of the courts is marked,’ and respectcompetence on the part of the courts is marked,’ and respect
for the Government’s conclusions is appropriate.”for the Government’s conclusions is appropriate.”  Id. Id.  at 34  at 34
(citation omitted). “[W]here no factual certainties exist or(citation omitted). “[W]here no factual certainties exist or
where facts alone do not provide the answer . . . we requirewhere facts alone do not provide the answer . . . we require
only that the agency so state and go on to identify theonly that the agency so state and go on to identify the
considerations it found persuasive.”considerations it found persuasive.”  Jifry Jifry, 370 F.3d at 1180, 370 F.3d at 1180
(citation omitted).(citation omitted).

It is self-evident that TSA’s action against Petitioner wasIt is self-evident that TSA’s action against Petitioner was
related to the agency’s “goals of improving the safety of airrelated to the agency’s “goals of improving the safety of air
travel.”travel.”  Id. Id.  TSA was not required to show that Petitioner  TSA was not required to show that Petitioner
would would  engage in activities designed to compromise aviation or engage in activities designed to compromise aviation or
national security. Rather, the agency was merely required tonational security. Rather, the agency was merely required to
give a reasonable explanation as to why it believed thatgive a reasonable explanation as to why it believed that
PetitionerPetitioner  presented  presented a a risk risk   to aviation or national security.  to aviation or national security.
The Vara Declaration satisfies this legal obligation.The Vara Declaration satisfies this legal obligation.

III. CIII. CONCLUSIONONCLUSION  

For the reasons set forth above, the petition for review isFor the reasons set forth above, the petition for review is
denied.denied.

So ordered So ordered ..
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